THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

-----  
APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Perry M. Buckner, III

RECEIVED

MAR - 6 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

-----  
Appellate Case Number 2014-002155  
-----

DeAngelo Mickell,.....Petitioner

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent

-----  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
-----

James A. Brown, Jr., Esquire  
Attorney for Petitioner

Law Offices of Jim Brown, PA  
1600 Burnside St., Suite 100  
P.O. Box 592  
Beaufort, South Carolina 29901  
(843) 470-0003

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED ON REVIEW**

Did the trial court err in failing to apply the doctrine of laches to deny the State's assertion of waiver of the Petitioner's Post Conviction Relief (PCR) rights?

Did the trial court err in failing to consider the voluntariness of the waiver of the Petitioner's PCR rights?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On March 28, 2011, the Petitioner filed an application seeking post-conviction relief from his convictions for Conspiracy to Traffic and Trafficking Cocaine, 28-100 grams, first offense and his 18 year concurrent sentences. The State filed a return on September 27, 2012. The State amended this return on March 26, 2013.

The Petitioner moved to deny this amended return on March 28, 2013.

The trial court entertained two motions to quash subpoenas on May 7, 2014. The trial court then convened a hearing on May 8, 2014 regarding the State's motion to dismiss the application based upon waiver. At the May 8, 2014 hearing, the trial court granted the State's motion to dismiss based upon the Petitioner's waiver of his PCR rights.

The trial court issued a written order on May 14, 2014. The trial court denied a motion to alter or amend by order dated August 29, 2014. Undersigned counsel filed and served a notice of appeal on October 8, 2014 and this petition follows.

## **ARGUMENT**

The circuit court erred in denying the Petitioner's assertion of laches to the State's affirmative defense of waiver. Further, the circuit court erred in denying the Petitioner the opportunity to offer proof in support of his challenge to the knowing and voluntary nature of his waiver of his collateral challenge rights. As such, this Court should grant this Petition and allow

briefing on these two issues.

In South Carolina, statutory law provides a framework for collateral challenges to criminal convictions. See SC Code Title 17, Chapter 27. Generally, such challenges assert ineffective assistance of counsel as basis for relief. To prevail with such a claim, a petitioner must show both that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of competency and that but for such failure there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different.

However, like most states, an accused may waive his rights to bring a collateral challenge. See Spoone v. State, 665 SE2d 605 (SC 2008). Such a waiver is valid as long as it was made in a knowing, intelligent and voluntary fashion. Importantly for this petition, a waiver may be attacked as involuntarily, unknowingly, or unintelligently entered.

#### **Laches as a Bar to the Affirmative Defense of Waiver**

Collateral challenges in South Carolina are considered civil in nature. See SCRCP Rule 71.1. As such, the SC Rules of Civil Procedure generally apply. Some provisions, such as statute of limitations and discovery are modified by the statutory framework for post conviction challenges. SC Code Sections 17-27-45 & 17-27-150.

The SC Rules of Civil Procedure provide that affirmative defenses, such as waiver must be asserted in an answer or deemed barred by the doctrine of laches. See Whitehead v State, 547 SE2d 200, at 202 (SC 2002) citing SCRCP Rule 8( c). Laches is defined as an equitable doctrine, which arises upon the failure to assert a known right. Whitehead. This doctrine recognizes the unfairness presented when a party litigates matters and only later faces a challenge to the very litigation itself.

A determination of whether a claim is barred "is to be determined in light of the facts of

each case, taking into consideration whether the delay has worked injury, prejudice, or disadvantage to the other party; delay alone in assertion of a right does not constitute laches.” Whitehead, at 202.

In the case at bar, the Petitioner submitted an application seeking post conviction relief on March 28, 2011. This application asserted one claim for relief; arguing that trial counsel was deficient in his investigation of the facts supporting the charge against the Petitioner. Appendix, p. 97-100. This application was amended on August 19, 2013 adding two more claims of ineffective assistance of counsel (IAC) and one claim asserting a Brady<sup>1</sup> violation. Appendix, p. 74-77

The two new claims of IAC alleged trial counsel was deficient for failing to challenge the search warrant and for failing to provide the Petitioner sufficient information to knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his Boykin<sup>2</sup> rights when he pled guilty. Both of these claims were centered around the unconstitutional search. The Brady claim involved the suppression of other police reports not at issue in this petition.

The State submitted its first return to this application on September 27, 2012. Appendix, p. 92-95. This return did not assert the defense of waiver. The State amended its return on March 26, 2013; asserting the affirmative defense of waiver. Appendix, p. 83-84.

The Petitioner replied on March 28, 2013 by filing a motion asserting the doctrine of laches as a bar to the State’s assertion of waiver. Appendix, p. 82. This motion was argued at a hearing on May 8, 2014. The trial court declined to apply the doctrine of laches and accepted the State’s assertion of waiver.

---

<sup>1</sup>Brady v Maryland, 373 US 83 (1963).

<sup>2</sup>Boykin v Alabama, 395 US 238 (1969).

In denying the Petitioner's claim of laches, the trial court found that the length of the delay in the assertion was "not sufficient for [him] to say that the equitable doctrine of laches, unreasonable delay should be applied here in this situation." Appendix, p 44, l. 22-25. The trial court calculated the delay as only 6 months, citing the passage of time from the original return and the amended return. Appendix, p. 45, l. 1-2. The trial court's ruling did not consider the Petitioner's assertion that the length of time should be considered from the March 28, 2011 filing of his first PCR Application until the March 26, 2013 assertion of waiver; a time period in which counsel and Petitioner labored diligently to prepare for a merits hearing in this matter. Appendix, p 36, l. 17- p. 37, l. 24.

Thus, the trial court erred when it declined to apply the doctrine of laches based upon an incorrect analysis of the time of delay in the assertion of this claim<sup>3</sup>.

#### **Petitioner's Offer of Proof Concerning Voluntariness of the Waiver of his PCR Rights.**

In Spoone v State, the SC Supreme Court affirmed the ruling of the circuit court affirming a provision in a plea agreement in which the petitioner waived his right to collateral challenges. Presenting a matter of first impression, the Spoone Court turned to federal law regarding waivers of challenges. First the court reviewed federal law regarding waiver of direct appeal rights and then cases involving waiver of collateral challenges.

The SC Court cited with approval an opinion from the US Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit which held: "no reason to distinguish the enforceability of a waiver of direct-appeal rights from a waiver of collateral-attack rights" produced as part of a plea bargain. Spoone, quoting US v Lemaster, 403 F3d 216, 220 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005). However, the Court in

---

<sup>3</sup>SCRCP Rule 12(a) specifically allows 60 days for the State to file a return to a PCR application if arising from a guilty plea.

Spoone made clear in the very next sentence of the opinion that such a waiver must be “knowing and voluntary.” Citing Lemaster at 220 and other citations omitted. Under Fourth Circuit law, to determine whether a waiver was knowing and voluntary a court must examine “ the particular facts and circumstances surrounding the case, including the background, experience and conduct of the accused.” Spoone, at 607 (internal citations omitted).

In the case at bar, the circuit court granted the State’s motion to dismiss based upon waiver. Appendix, p. 46, l. 2-3. The court did so by reviewing the four corners of the written plea agreement and the transcript of the plea and sentencing. The court explicitly ruled that he did “...not reach the issue today of the voluntariness of the waiver...” Appendix, p. 46, l. 2-3; also see Appendix, p. 65 (“This Court declines to reach the voluntariness issue raised because the transcript speaks for itself.”)

The court declined to allow the Petitioner to present evidence in support of his challenge to the waiver. Appendix, p. 46, l. 2-6. The Petitioner did briefly proffer the substance of this evidence. Succinctly, this evidence involved introduction of an original signature page from the search warrant underpinning the Petitioner’s challenged convictions and the testimony of the Petitioner and his trial counsel. Appendix, p. 38, l. 1-16; p. 47, l. 14- p. 48, l. 13; & p. 50.

As a factual context, the Petitioner pled guilty to Trafficking Cocaine, 28-100 grams, first offense and Conspiracy to Traffic Cocaine, 28-100 grams, first offense. Appendix, p 123-124. These charges were lesser included offenses from the true billed charges as they reduced the drug weight, only. The Petitioner was sentenced to terms of imprisonment on these charges of 18 years to be served concurrently with each other.

The State agreed that the evidence of both the trafficking and conspiracy primarily stemmed from the seizure of 355 grams of cocaine found in the trunk of a car located at 12

Christopher Lane, Hilton Head, South Carolina. Appendix, p. 27, l. 7- p. 29, l. 13. This was the Petitioner's mother's address. The Petitioner's mother and another woman were also charged with the Conspiracy count as well as various other counts of trafficking and distribution which were not asserted against the Petitioner.

This drug seizure was made by law enforcement during the execution of a search warrant. The drugs were located in the trunk of a car. Appendix, p 127, l. 20-24. However, the search warrant page particularly describing the place to be searched does not allow the search of any vehicles. Appendix, p. 50.

According to the Petitioner's proffer, this search warrant page is the only known search warrant page with an original signature in existence. The State conceded the authenticity of this document. This document was not known to the Petitioner's trial counsel and he did not review the importance of this item with the Petitioner before he pled guilty.

Had the PCR trial court allowed the Petitioner to challenge his waiver, trial counsel would have testified that he would have advised the Petitioner that a serious challenge to the seizure of the drugs existed and that a plea would not be in his interest with the search warrant challenge unresolved. The Petitioner would have testified that he did not receive any advice from his trial attorney concerning the deficiency in the search warrant. Further, the Petitioner would have testified that he would not have pled guilty if he had received this advice.