STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

MAR 17 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Certiorari to Beaufort County
Perry M. Buckner, Circuit Court Judge
2011-CP-07-01538

Appellate Case No. 2014-002155

DEANGELO C. MICKELL, #350668,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ASHLEY A. McMAHAN
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 71676

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3693

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the PCR Court err in dismissing Petitioner's application and enforcing the written plea agreement where the Petitioner waived his rights to direct appeal and post-conviction relief?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Applicant is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the State Grand Jury Clerk of Court. Applicant was indicted at the May 2009, term of the State Grand Jury for: Count I – Conspiracy to Traffic Cocaine Greater than 400g and Count XVII – Trafficking Cocaine 200 - 400g (2009-GS-47-0005). Applicant was represented by Anthony O. Dore, Esquire. On January 25, 2010, the Applicant pled guilty to Conspiracy to Traffic Cocaine 28-100g and Trafficking Cocaine 28-100g. Sentencing was deferred. On April 29, 2010, the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen concurrently sentenced him to confinement for a period of eighteen (18) years on both charges. Applicant did not appeal his conviction or sentence.

Petitioner filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief on March 31, 2011. The Return was filed on September 28, 2012. Petitioner filed a Motion for Discovery on or about March 1, 2013. Respondent filed an Amended Return Motion to Dismiss on or about March 26, 2013. Petitioner filed a Motion to Deny the Respondent's Amended Pleading and a Motion to Compel Compliance with a Subpoena on or about March 28, 2013. A hearing into the Applicant's motions was convened on April 1, 2013, at the Beaufort County Courthouse. The Motions were denied on or about April 13, 2013.

A Motion to Quash Subpoena was then filed by Beaufort County on or about May 2, 2014, and SLED filed a Motion to Quash Subpoena on or about May 5, 2014. Petitioner responded to Beaufort's Motion to Quash also on May 5, 2014.

A hearing was convened via telephone on May 6, 2014 and the next day at the Colleton County Courthouse on May 7, 2014. The telephonic hearing related to the Motions to Quash, while the hearing in at the Colleton County Courthouse was related to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. The Motions to Quash were granted on May 20, 2014.

The Respondent's Motion to Dismiss was granted on May 21, 2014. The

Petitioner filed a 59(e) Motion on or about June 2, 2014. Respondent replied on June 11, 2014. Petitioner's 59(e) Motion was denied on September 17, 2014. The Notice of Appeal was filed on October 8, 2014. Petitioner filed his Petition for a Writ of Certiorari on March 4, 2015. This Return follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a PCR proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of establishing that he is entitled to relief. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000). The reviewing Court “gives great deference to the post-conviction relief (PCR) court's findings of fact and conclusions of law.” Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005). A PCR court's findings will be upheld on appeal if there is “any evidence of probative value sufficient to support them.” Id. The appellate court must reverse where there is no probative evidence to support the findings. Pierce v. State, 338 S.C. 139, 144, 526 S.E.2d 222, 225 (2000).

ARGUMENT

The PCR Court did not err in dismissing Petitioner's application and enforcing the written plea agreement where the Petitioner waived his rights to direct appeal and post-conviction relief.

Petitioner claims that he did not voluntarily waive his right to a PCR. The record refutes this assertion. A waiver of appellate and PCR rights will be held effective only if it is knowing and voluntary. Spoone v. State, 379 SC 138, 142, 665 SE2d 605, 607 (2008). In order to determine whether a waiver of the right to appeal and PCR is voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently made, it is necessary to look at the particular facts and circumstances of the case including: 1. The background, experience, and conduct of the accused, 2 the text of the plea agreement, and 3 the transcript of the plea hearing. Id. at 143, 608.

Petitioner has a fairly sophisticated background. He graduated from high school, attended two years of college, and ran his own business. *See* App. p. 108, line 24 – p. 109, line 1; App. p. 110, lines 2-3. Certainly someone that can accomplish all this is intelligent enough to know how to read and comprehend, and know what type of agreement he is entering into. Secondly, the text of the plea agreement is straightforward. In reads in pertinent part: "...understands that he has a right to file a post-conviction relief (PCR) action in this case but agrees to knowingly and voluntarily waive any post-conviction relief action." App. p. 140, subpart 8. The agreement was signed by the Petitioner and his attorney. Supp. App. p. 1.

As for the third prong, the Court questioned the Petitioner about his waiver of PCR rights:

THE COURT: Sir, you understand that pursuant to your plea agreement,

you have waived any right to an appeal or a post-conviction relief filing.

Do you understand that?

MR. MICKELL: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: You understand that we allow by contract for you to waive those constitutional rights. You understand that and you're willingly and freely doing that; is that correct, sir?

MR. MICKELL: Yes, ma'am.

App. p. 134, lines 9-17. This colloquy went even farther than the question of the court in the Spoone case. In Spoone, the Court asked if he knew he was giving up rights to have his case "further considered." Spoone at 141, 606. In Petitioner's case, the plea Court specifically asked if he was giving up his PCR rights and whether he was doing so willingly and freely.

The PCR Court was correct to rule that the record "speaks for itself" when it ruled that Petitioner waived his right to a PCR in his plea agreement and therefore should not be allowed to attack any voluntariness. "[This Court] believe[s] the transcript and the plea agreement adequately show an indication, under oath, by the [Petitioner] to waive any application for pots-conviction relief..." App. p. 45, lines 16-19. Based on the foregoing, Petitioner's waiver of the right to file a PCR was done knowingly and voluntarily and the PCR Court did not err in dismissing the application.

Laches Does Not Apply to the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss

Petitioner claims the doctrine of Laches bars the Respondent from being able to raise the issue that Petitioner waived his right to a PCR. This is simply incorrect. "Laches is an equitable doctrine that our courts have defined as "neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances affording opportunity for diligence, to do

what in law should have been done.” Jervey v. Martint Environmental, Inc., 396 SC 442, 451, 721 SE 2d 469, 474 (2012), *citing* Strickland v. Strickland, 475 SC 76, 85, 650 SE 2d 465, 470 (2007). “To establish laches as a defense, a party must show that the complaining party unreasonably delayed its assertion of a right, resulting in prejudice to the party asserting the defense of laches.” Id. at 451. Respondent did not delay in asserting its right to move to dismiss and Petitioner cannot show prejudice in the delay in filing that motion.

Respondent initially filed its Return on September 28, 2012. Respondent filed its Amended Return Motion to Dismiss on or about March 26, 2013. The hearing on Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss was not heard until May 8, 2014. While there was a time frame of approximately five months between the Return and the Amended Return, there was an even longer period - over a year - from the time the Amended Return was filed and the hearing on the Motion. It’s disingenuous for the Petitioner to claim that he did not have adequate time to prepare for the Motion to Dismiss when almost a year past before it was heard. Therefore, the PCR Court was correct in its ruling when it stated that it doesn’t “...believe there has been sufficient showing to me that the time alone was sufficient for me to say that the equitable doctrine of laches, unreasonable delay, should be applied here in this situation.” App. p. 44, lines 22-25.¹

¹ In Jervey, cited above, the court found laches applied after a 450 day delay. Id. at 452. In Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon, the court found laches applied after a “three-year plus” delay. 381SC 417, 433, 673 SE 2d 448, 456.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the PCR Court's Order and deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.